IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC09-441

QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION,

Appellant,

v.

CHALFONTE CONDOMINIUM APARTMENT ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Appellee.

ON REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Raoul G. Cantero III White & Case LLP 200 South Biscayne Blvd., Suite 4900 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 371-2700

William Berk Berk, Merchant & Sims PLC 2100 Ponce de Leon Blvd., Penthouse 1 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (786) 338-2851 Rodolfo Sorondo, Jr. Monica Vila Holland & Knight LLP 701 Brickell Ave., Suite 3000 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 374-8500

Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This case arises from an insurance claim for property damage suffered in Hurricane Wilma, which struck South Florida in 2005. The condominium buildings of the insured were among the buildings in Boca Raton affected by the hurricane. A week after the hurricane, the chairman of the insured's association advised the unit owners that the majority of units had no damage. Nevertheless, after a six-day trial in federal district court, a jury awarded \$8,140,099.68 in The insurer submits that this anomaly occurred because the court damages. allowed the insured to present evidence, as part of its breach of contract claim, that in failing to fairly and expeditiously settle the claim, the insurer breached a duty of good faith and fair dealing—in other words, that it acted in bad faith. The court also allowed the jury to consider that the insurer had violated a statute, which contains no penalty provision, requiring that policy language warning of hurricane deductibles be stated in boldfaced 18-point type. The notice here was in boldfaced 16.2 point type (this brief is in 14-point) and in capital letters.

Both parties appealed the judgment. After hearing oral argument, a panel of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit certified to this Court five separate questions, which can be separated into three categories: questions about an action for the breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing (I and II); questions about the statutory language and type-size

requirements in section 627.701(4)(a) (III and IV); and a question about whether

the policy waived the insurer's right to stay execution of a judgment (V). The

specific questions were:

- I. Does Florida law recognize a claim for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing by an insured against its insurer based on the insurer's failure to investigate and assess the insured's claim within a reasonable period of time?
- II. If Florida law recognizes a claim for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing based on an insurer's failure to investigate and assess its insured's claim within a reasonable period of time, is the good faith and fair dealing claim subject to the same bifurcation requirement applicable to a bad faith claim under section 624.155, Florida Statutes?
- III. May an insured bring a claim against an insurer for failure to comply with the language and type-size requirements established by section 627.701(4)(a), Florida Statutes?
- IV. Does an insurer's failure to comply with the language and type-size requirements established by section 627.701(4)(a), Florida Statutes, render a noncompliant hurricane deductible provision in an insurance policy void and unenforceable?
- V. Does language in an insurance policy mandating payment of benefits upon "entry of final judgment" require an insurer to pay its insured upon entry of judgment at the trial level?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 2005, Hurricane Wilma struck Boca Raton, causing damage to the condominium buildings owned by Chalfonte Condominium Apartment Association, Inc. (Chalfonte). Chalfonte filed a claim for damages with its insurer, QBE Insurance Corporation (QBE), under an insurance policy covering commercial property (the Policy). (D.E. 6 ¶¶ 2, 3). During QBE's investigation of the claim, Chalfonte filed suit against QBE. The extent of damages was greatly in dispute. QBE's investigation revealed that the property suffered relatively minor damages, below the deductible amount, while Chalfonte contended the buildings sustained extensive, albeit subtle, damages requiring replacement of all the windows and sliding glass doors.

The Amended Complaint asserted, among others, claims for (1) breach of contract (Count 2), alleging that QBE failed to provide coverage under the Policy, and (2) breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing (Count 3), alleging that QBE failed to act in good faith by, among other things,

- (a) failing to pay for the loss or damages to Chalfonte's property;
- (b) failing to fairly and promptly investigate Chalfonte's property damage claim;
- (c) failing to fairly and promptly pay Chalfonte's property damage claim;
- (d) failing to fairly and promptly settle Chalfonte's property damage claim; and
- (e) otherwise failing to provide coverage for Chalfonte's property damage claim.

(D.E. 21 ¶¶ 17-25, 26-35). Chalfonte alleged the identical damages for Counts 2 and 3, namely, "general compensatory damages," as well as "special damages, including but not limited to, the expenses of procuring and paying for loans and/or lines of credit so that Chalfonte could make repairs and/or rebuild its property." (D.E. 21 ¶ 33). QBE moved for summary judgment on Count 3, arguing the claim

was really one for statutory bad faith and was therefore premature. (D.E. 51 at 6). The district court denied QBE's motion. (D.E. 107).

At trial, Chalfonte's breach-of-contract case focused considerably on QBE's alleged bad faith. For example, in setting the theme of the case during the opening statement, rather than highlighting the central issues of whether the buildings had suffered damage and whether that damage was covered by the Policy, Chalfonte's counsel highlighted QBE's behavior during the adjustment process:

The minute they heard there was a public adjuster involved what they did was instead of negotiating with the public adjuster, instead of returning the phone calls of Ms. Jordan, the property manager at the Chalfonte . . . they pretty much ignored them totally and they put their attorneys on the case as of February of 2005. (D.E. 210 at 110:10-16).

And what did the attorneys do? They didn't come out and adjust the claim. . . (D.E. 210 at 110:17-18).

Well, they came out, but it wasn't until April or May. . . . (D.E. 210 at 110:23-25).

So what this case is about, it's about 378 families who to this day, almost two years now, have been waiting to get their money. It's about the obligation of good faith and fair dealing that applies in insurance contracts. You have a timely and prompt adjustment, which is also an ethical canon of adjusters. *It's about an insurance company who dragged their feet every step of the way*, including today and tomorrow and the ten days that you're sitting here and [they] are going to tell you that we didn't give them records, we didn't do this, we didn't do that. In the meantime, they had not only every opportunity to do it, they did it [sic]. (D.E. 210 at 114:20-25, 115:1-5).

The public adjuster hired by the Chalfonte had his report done, and he's just as busy as they were, in mid December. He gave that report to the insurance company. . . . Let's settle this claim. Let's get these families some money. (D.E. 210 at 115:15-22).

And you know what [the insurance company's] response was? We're not talking to you. Here is a letter from our lawyer. We said, well, why wouldn't you talk to me? I want to try to settle this claim. No, you're going to go with our lawyer and they're going to bring in all of these people to copy your records for 30-some-odd years. Okay. He said I'll do it. And they came out and they came out and they copied and they copied and they took records and they continued to take records. *Even after all of that they still don't give us a number*. (D.E. 210 at 115:23-25, 116:1-7).

This is about not promptly adjusting a claim. It's about taking people's money for four or five years, hundreds of thousands of dollars in insurance premiums, and not paying them when in their time of need when a hurricane—the third worst hurricane in the history of the United States ravaged through this community and uprooted these people, and it's wrong. And we now need for you to rectify it. (D.E. 210 at 116:8-14).

And all of the excuses that are offered by all of the unqualified people that they had go out there, and the I was busy, and the dog ate my homework, and all of that stuff, why that evidence doesn't mean anything. (D.E. 210 at 117:15-19).

(D.E. 210 at 110-117) (emphasis added).

The testimony Chalfonte elicited from many of its witnesses likewise emphasized QBE's alleged bad faith conduct. For example, Chalfonte asked Robert Sansone, QBE's corporate representative, several questions suggesting that QBE had delayed in providing an adjustment of damages to Chalfonte. (D.E. 210:175-76, 179). Chalfonte also asked Sansone questions about the Florida code of ethics applicable to adjusters, such as whether he had complied with his duty to "act promptly and diligently and fairly to guard [the insured's] best interests." (D.E 210: 180, 184-85).

Chalfonte elicited similar testimony about QBE's behavior from Stephen Sarasohn, the public insurance adjuster. Sarasohn testified that after Chalfonte submitted a detailed estimate, QBE "refused to talk to us and never discussed the claim with us" (D.E 210:252). He also testified that after making a good faith effort to settle the claim with Sansone, who had no authority to do so, he was not able to contact QBE's counsel and would have to resort to "involv[ing] an attorney" because he was "at a loss for how to get the insurance company to respond at all." (D.E. 210: 263. 266-67).

Chalfonte presented the testimony of John Wareham, who was a construction consultant assisting Sansone with the inspection of the property. (D.E. 184:23). Chalfonte dedicated the majority, if not all, of that examination to exposing a 20 year-old charge of insurance fraud (involving a "grey market" automobile), for which adjudication had been withheld. (D.E. 184:24-36). Chalfonte did not ask Wareham substantive questions on the central issues of damages and coverage.

Chalfonte's excessive emphasis of QBE's alleged bad faith is also evidenced by the testimony of Janet Jordan, the association manager. (D.E. 184:37). Jordan explained that Sansone was "difficult to get a hold of," despite her several attempts

to contact him, and "it took a while for him to come to the property." (D.E. 184:59-60). She testified that, almost a year after the hurricane, QBE was doing "absolutely nothing" with Chalfonte's claim and that there was "dead silence" from QBE. (D.E. 184:71, 72).

In summarizing the case to the jury during closing arguments, Chalfonte's counsel did much more than simply comment on whether the evidence had proven hurricane damage and in what amount. Rather, he repeatedly emphasized QBE's alleged delay and other bad faith conduct in handling Chalfonte's claim:

Now, where things went wrong here is that people like Janet Jordan and all of the 378 families at the Chalfonte, most of whom, unfortunately, are in their senior year, in their 80s, and they trusted QBE that they would come out and do the right thing and adjust their loss and pay for the damages that had been sustained. They put their trust in their insurance carrier. That's what is supposed to happen. And the carrier is supposed to come out and pay the damages caused by the storm. (D.E. 212 at 10:5-13).

You see, the game is very clear. You get your close group of people, not trustworthy All of the time you're trusting them that they're going to do the right thing and they're going to adjust your claim promptly and expeditiously as required by the laws and the ethics of adjustment. . . . (D.E. 212 at 13:6-13).

It's a number game, ladies and gentlemen. This is a total numbers game. And the people in control of the numbers is a very close knit group of people, some of whom can't tell the truth no matter how obvious it is. (D.E. 212 at 16:4-7)

Now, while all of this is going on, Chalfonte and 378 families have to take out a \$15 million loan because there's no adjustment of their claim. . . . It is over \$400,000 to date, because this carrier is holding onto their money and won't give it to them. . . . (D.E. 212 at 20:1-8)

. . . .

. . . .

They didn't even have an adjustment of their claim. They didn't have an adjustment. They had to file suit to get the money. And they had to now go through this entire legal proceeding to get coverage for what they pay every year in a premium which is hundreds of thousands of dollars and which is now over a million dollars in order to have coverage for their buildings (D.E. 212 at 20:9-15).

But, unfortunately, on the other side in this case there is a planned effort to make sure no matter what happens . . . that adjustment of the claim is going to be left open until we even got into the litigation. . . . (D.E. 212 at 20:19-22).

You've got to decide who you believe. And what Chalfonte is suggesting to you is *don't be fooled by the smoke and the mirrors, because the game is delay and don't pay. Delay, delay, delay. And keep that number in the adjustment always low enough so even if they find some other stuff... you won't pass the deductible.* You keep that number low enough and you never have to pay the claim. And if you don't have to pay the claim, you've done a wonderful job on your bottom line. (D.E. 212 at 22:7-16).

They've mixed and matched everything to fit their case. *But it is their attitude that is most important, because it's the attitude that we have had to deal with and it is that we're not human beings and we don't count.* We count. We pay a lot of money to get coverage for exactly what they knew it was, windstorm. They knew the door and sliders were in bad condition. (D.E. 212 at 62:20-25, 63:1).

And what you really saw here in those minutes is a board of directors, elderly, the people who fought our wars, *the people who went to Korea, the people who went to World War II, people who died for us* and their relatives (D.E. 212 at 63:2-5).

Every unit owner file they went through. The personal private information of every unit owner. *People who have AIDS or people who are infirmed or people that have financial information. It's all gone through all so they can deny the claim and come to court and say you didn't cooperate, or look what we found.* (D.E. 212 at 67:10-15).

• • • •

This is a situation where the insurance company wasn't there to protect and defend and help. They became the enemy because they were watching out for them and not for us. (D.E. 212 at 73:22-24).

(D.E. 212 at 10-73) (emphasis added).

In addition to the breach of contract claims, Chalfonte also asserted a claim for QBE's alleged violation of section 627.701, Florida Statutes. (Count 4). (D.E. 21 ¶¶ 36-48). Chalfonte alleged that the hurricane deductible provision in the Policy did not comply with the statutory type-size and language requirements, and sought general compensatory and special damages. (D.E. 21 ¶¶ 39-48). QBE moved to dismiss Count 4 because section 627.701 does not provide a private right of action. (D.E. 23). The district court agreed and dismissed the count. (D.E. 75). The court nevertheless submitted to the jury the question of whether the Policy complied with the requirements of section 627.701(4)(a). (D.E. 165).

The jury found for Chalfonte on all claims, awarding it \$8,140,099.68 and finding, among other things, that QBE breached both the Policy and the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing. (D.E. 165). Of the total judgment award, the jury allocated \$7,868,211.00 to QBE's breach of the coverage provision and \$271,888.68 for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing. (D.E. 165). The jury also found that the Policy did not comply with section 627.701(4)(a). (D.E. 165). The court entered a Final Judgment for Chalfonte (D.E. 166).

QBE filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and/or Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and a Motion for New Trial, challenging Chalfonte's claim for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing. (D.E. 172-1, 175). The district court denied both motions. (D.E. 208, 225). The court did grant, however, QBE's Motion to Alter or Amend the Final Judgment to Apply the Hurricane Deductible. (D.E. 222). The court found that, although QBE did not "strictly comply" with the statutory type-size and language requirements of the statute, there was no express penalty attached to section 627.701(4)(a). (D.E. 222 at 5). It concluded, therefore, that the hurricane deductible provision was valid and enforceable, and it entered an Amended Final Judgment in the amount of \$7,237,223.88. (D.E. 222 at 11; D.E. 226). The Amended Final Judgment also accounted for prejudgment interest. (See D.E. 223). Chalfonte moved for attorneys' fees and costs, which the district court granted in part and denied in part. (D.E. 255).

QBE appealed. Chalfonte cross-appealed, challenging the court's order enforcing the deductible provision. To stay execution of the Judgment pending appeal, QBE filed a supersedeas bond representing 110% of the Judgment. (D.E. 227, 265). Chalfonte nevertheless moved to enforce the Judgment, claiming that the Policy waived QBE's right to stay execution and obligated QBE to pay

Chalfonte within 30 days of the Judgment. (D.E. 231) Chalfonte relied on the following provision in the Policy:

Provided you have complied with all the terms of this Coverage Part, we will pay for covered loss or damage: \dots (2) Within 30 days after we receive the sworn proof of loss and: (a) There is an entry of final judgment \dots

(D.E. 231-2 at 29). The district court rejected Chalfonte's argument, finding that QBE had complied with the applicable procedural rules in filing its supersedeas bond and had not waived its right to a stay under the Policy. (D.E. at 2). Chalfonte appealed.

The Eleventh Circuit consolidated all the appeals and, after hearing oral argument, certified the five questions previously described.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida common law has never imposed a duty of good faith on an insurer when investigating and ultimately settling its insured's own claim. Rather, an insurer's common law duty to settle a claim in good faith exists only with respect to a third party's claim, given the unique fiduciary relationship between an insurer and insured in the third-party context. Thus, a common law action for bad faith, or for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing, does not exist in the first-party context. While Florida case law recognizes that an "implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing" applies in every contract, no Florida case has ever applied the duty to a first-party insurance claim. The Court should therefore clarify that Florida does not recognize a claim for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing based on an insurer's failure to settle its insured's own claim "fairly" or "promptly."

Indeed, recognizing the non-existence of a first-party, bad faith cause of action under the common law, the Florida legislature enacted section 624.155, Florida Statutes. Section 624.155 allows an insured to recover for its insurer's failure to settle a claim in good faith, whether in the first-party or third-party context, and therefore adequately protects an insured against its insurer's failure to fairly or promptly investigate, assess, or pay a claim. A claim under section 624.155, however, accrues only after the insured has proven liability and the extent of its damages in the underlying coverage claim. This is because permitting references to an insurer's alleged bad faith during the trial of the contractual claim will prejudice the jury and distort the jury's view of the coverage issue. That is exactly what happened in this case, where the judge allowed the "lack of good faith" case to be tried at the same time, and before the same jury, as the breach of contract case. Thus, even if this Court decides that Florida common law does recognize an action for good faith and fair dealing in the first-party context, the Court should find that the common law claim does not accrue until the insurer's liability and the amount of damages have been determined.

Section 627.701(4)(a) of the Insurance Code, which requires that a hurricane deductible provision in an insurance policy contain certain language and be printed in a particular type-size, provides neither a private right of action nor a penalty for the failure to strictly comply with its requirements. The Court should not infer Neither should the Court speculate whether the Legislature intended to one. impose a penalty for an insurer's failure to strictly comply with section 627.701(4)(a). Throughout the Insurance Code, the Legislature expressly included penalties for violations of other sections. Here, although the language did not strictly comply with the statute, which required the clause to be printed in 18-point type, it was printed in bold, with all letters capitalized, and in a size substantially larger than the surrounding text. Therefore, the statute's purpose was fulfilled; Chalfonte was aware of the hurricane deductible. In such circumstances, a hurricane deductible provision should not be rendered void merely because the notice was not in the precise size prescribed.

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