IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-441

QBE INSURANCE CORPORATION.,

Appellant,

VS.

CHALFONTE CONDOMINIUM APARTMENT ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Appellee.

On Review of Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

DANIEL S. ROSENBAUM
KATZMAN GARFINKEL
ROSENBAUM
250 S. Australian Ave., FL 5
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 653-2900

BRUCE S. ROGOW
CYNTHIA E. GUNTHER
BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A.
Broward Financial Centre, Suite
1930
500 East Broward Blvd.
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394
(954) 767-8909

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Florida contract law has long recognized the covenant of good faith and fair dealing that attaches to all contracts in this State. Insurance contracts are no exception. Here, the good faith and fair dealing claim relates to an express contractual provision that requires QBE to "determine the value of loss." Can an insurance company "adjust" a claim in perpetuity, or must it act in good faith and do so promptly? That is the question posed by the good/faith fair dealing claim here. The claim is not one regarding coverage or settlement, exposing an insured to excess liability. That is a classic "bad faith" cause of action, but it is not the cause of action in this case and therefore a good faith/fair

dealing claim can be asserted under Florida law.

Because the good faith/fair dealing claim is not a "bad faith" 11. claim, there is no bifurcation necessity. The bifurcation requirement that attaches to bad faith claims seeking damages for rejecting coverage or failing to settle with third parties has no application in the context of a first party insured's assertion of a right to insist on good faith and fair dealing with regard to an express term of the insurance contract. No prejudice to the insurance company is inherent in such a claim, nor is there any risk that discovery will intrude upon any work product or attorney client privileges. The question is whether it is fair for an insurance company to fail to act promptly in determining the insured's loss. The contract required that determination, but QBE took over 500 days to make it. Because a good faith/fair dealing implied covenant serves to fill a gap where one party (OBE) has discretion under an express contractual term, trying that claim with the breach of contract claim is proper and not subject to bifurcation under either statutory or case law.

III. and IV. Florida Statute section 627.401(4)(a) requires an insurer to comply with certain notice provisions regarding hurricane deductibles. Hurricane deductibles are higher than general deductibles. Here, QBE failed to comply with two aspects of the notice requirement – size of type and inclusion of

the word "hurricane." In light of the mandatory language of the statute ("must on its face include"), the failure to comply is actionable and renders the hurricane deductible void and unenforceable. Any other result would make the statute meaningless.

V. QBE's insurance contract, drafted by it, required it to pay within 30 days of "entry of a final judgment." Entry of a final judgment means entry of the judgment rendered at the conclusion of the trial court proceedings. Any other definition flies in the face of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Florida (and federal) accepted notions of what "entry of a final judgment" means. Had QBE written a contractual provision that provided for delay of payment until all appeals or discretionary review proceedings were concluded, then "finality" would have to await the termination of those proceedings. But that is not the case here, and QBE is hoisted on the petard of its own language. It was required to pay the judgment within 30 days of the entry of a final judgment by the the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, the trial court in this case.

ARGUMENT

I.

FLORIDA LAW RECOGNIZES A CLAIM FOR BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING BY AN INSURED AGAINST ITS INSURER BASED ON THE INSURER'S FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND ASSESS THE INSURED'S CLAIM WITHIN A REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME

A. GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING IN FLORIDA

"Florida contract law recognizes the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in every contract." *Ins. Concepts & Design, Inc. v. Healthplan Servs., Inc.*, 785 So. 2d 1232, 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001); *County of Brevard v. Miorelli Eng'g., Inc.*, 703 So. 2d 1049, 1050 (Fla. 1997) ("Virtually every contract contains implied covenants and conditions, for example, every contract includes an implied covenant that the parties will perform in good faith.").

Many of the Florida federal judges who have addressed the question of whether an insured can assert a first party good faith and fair dealing cause of action against an insurance company have said "yes" to the claim, even where the court viewed the complaint allegations as not meeting the legal requirements for a good faith and fair dealing cause of action. In Florida, *O'Shields v. United Automobile Ins. Co.*, 790 So. 2d 570, 571 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), recognized the

concept in the insurance context ("An insurance company owes a duty of good faith and fair dealing to its insured under the terms of the insurance policy.")¹

The federal trial judge in this case – Judge Middlebrooks – wrote:

Chalfonte has properly alleged a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in count three where it alleged breach of an express term of the contract, QBE's failure to pay a covered loss, and then goes on to allege QBE failed to act in good faith as required by Florida law by . . . failing to fairly and promptly investigate the damage claim.

Chalfonte Condominium Apartment Assoc. v. QBE Insurance Corp., 2007 WL 2225972 *3, (S.D. Fla. 2007). Judge Ryskamp was in accord with the application of good faith and fair dealing. Townhouses of Highland Beach Condominium Assn. v. QBE Insurance Corp., 504 F.Supp. 1307, 1312 (S.D. Fla. 2007) ("The Amended Complaint subsequently alleged that Defendant failed to act in good faith by failing to investigate the damages claim fairly and promptly. The claim is one for breach of the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. . . .). See also Stallworth v. Hartford Ins. Co., 2006 WL 2711597 *6 (M.D. Fla. 2006)

_

Recently the Third District recognized Chalfonte's pendency in this Court. That court denied a certiorari petition presenting issues regarding good faith and fair dealing and bifurcation "without prejudice to the right of Citizens to pursue these legal theories to the extent appropriate following the Florida Supreme Court's determination of the certified questions." *Citizens Property Ins. Co. v. Bertot*, 2009 WL 1532631, 24 Fla. L.Wkly. D1109 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).

("[T]o the extent Plaintiffs are asserting a common law claim of breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing, the claim may be maintained but Plaintiffs' allegations are insufficient to state a claim.").

United States District Judge Adalberto Jordan wrote:

The defendants argue that Counts III and IV are premature because they attempt to bring an action for bad faith under Fla. Stat. § 624.155. I disagree [T]he defendants provide a lengthy recitation of case law and legislative history regarding bad faith claims in Florida, and in doing so, they attempt to equate "bad faith" with lack of "good faith." However a cause of action for breach of the implied warranty of good faith and fair dealing is separate and distinct from bad faith claims.

Arlen House East Condominium Assoc., Inc. v. QBE Insurance (Europe) Ltd., 2008 WL 4500690 *2 (S.D. Fla. 2008). Judge Jordan distinguished Quadomain Condo. Ass'n. v. QBE Insurance Corp., 2007 WL 1424596 *6 (S.D. Fla. 2007), in which Judge Moreno found the claim to be a bad faith claim "dressed in breach of implied warranty clothing," noting that Judge Moreno did see a difference between good faith and bad faith: "An action for bad faith alleges an insurer's wrongful refusal to settle a claim . . . while an action for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing relates to whether the parties' reasonable expectations have been met in regard to the implied obligations of an express

contractual provision." *Arlen House*, *id.* at *2, quoting *Quadomain* at *6. In a footnote, Judge Jordan pointed out that the Magistrate's Report and Recommendation adopted by Judge Moreno in *Buckley Towers Condo. Inc. v. QBE Insurance Corp.*, which followed *Quadomain*, "also acknowledges that *Quadomain* held that a breach of implied warranty could theoretically be asserted together with an express breach of contract claim" *Id.* at *2.²

It is not surprising that the courts have recognized the good faith and fair dealing claim, because this case is a paradigmatic example of its utility and necessity. The express contractual provision that triggered the claim was QBE's express promise to "determine the value of loss or damaged property, or the cost of its repair or replacement." DE21, p. 44. No time limit was set for that determination. It left it to the unfettered discretion of QBE. Good faith and fair

Other favorable federal decisions include *Dennis v. N'Western Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 2006 WL 1000308 *4 (M.D. Fla.2006) ("Nothing in Florida Statute § 624.155 prevents plaintiff from asserting a claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing."); *Lee Mem'l Health Sys. v. Med. Sav. Ins., Co.*, 2005 WL 2291679 (M.D. Fla. 2005) "[w]here there is a breach of the express terms of an agreement between the parties, a plaintiff may bring a separate claim for breach of implied covenant of good faith."); *Royal Surplus Lines Ins. Co. v. Coachmen Industries, Inc.*, 2002 WL 32894915 *16 (M.D. Fla. 2002) ("the duty of good faith and fair dealing is a mutual obligation, which is implied in every insurance contract in Florida."). United States District Judge Patricia Seitz recognized that "several courts have held that a claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith is a completely separate cause of action from a statutory bad faith claim," but declined to follow those decisions. *QBE Ins. Corp. v. Dome Condominium Assoc., Inc.*, 577 F.Supp. 1256, 1260 (S.D. Fla. 2008).

dealing provided the remedy; it is a "gap-filling default rule" that applies when "a question is not resolved by the terms of the contract," or "one party has the power to make a discretionary decision without defined standards." *Speedway Superamerica, LLC v. Tropic Enterprises, Inc.*, 966 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) (citations omitted). *See also PL Lake Worth Corp. v. 99 Cent Stuff – Palm Springs LLC*, 949 SO. 2d 1199, 1201 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) (finding breach where lessor refused to provide lessee information essential to lessee's lease renewal where contract did not explicitly require such disclosure).

Here, the "gap" is how long could QBE take to determine the damages caused by Hurricane Wilma? Good faith and fair dealing filled the gap.

The Magistrate Judge's Report accepted by Judge Graham in *Isola Condo. Assn. v. QBE Ins. Corp.*, 2008 WL 5169548 (S.D. Fla. 2008), which is mirrored by *QBE*'s brief in this Court, was wrong. It concluded that Isola's allegations that QBE failed to "fairly and promptly investigate, pay or settle the damage claim" could only be asserted, if at all, together with the extra-contractual bad faith claim under section 624.155." *Isola, supra*, at *3. That is the argument QBE makes here, based on section 624.155 and *Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz*, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005). It is an argument that has not succeeded with most courts that have addressed it, and as we argue below, this Court should not embrace it

because it misconceives the difference between gap filling good faith and fair dealing, as distinguished from bad faith failure to settle or provide coverage.

QBE resorts to a series of conclusionary statements that reveal its failure to see the difference, claiming "[t]he impossibility of distinguishing between an action for lack of good faith and one for bad faith;" that "[u]nder the statute, a lack of good faith equals bad faith;" that "the same conduct" supports a bad faith or a good faith action. QBE Brief, pp. 23-25. As we show below, there is a difference – a bad faith failure to provide coverage or to settle a claim is different from the good faith and fair dealing obligation to promptly determine the loss – and neither statutory or case law bars the good faith/fair dealing action for that delay. There must be such a remedy, otherwise an insurer could "adjust" a claim in perpetuity.³

Florida Statute section 627.70131(5)(a) was amended in 2007 to require an insurance company to value a loss "[w]ithin 90 days," absent extenuating circumstances. That statutory change underscores the need to use good faith/fair dealing in pre-statute situations where the insurer's discretion was not bounded.

B. NEITHER § 624.155 OR ALLSTATE INDEMNITY CO. v. RUIZ, PRECLUDED A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING

Section 624.155(1)(b)(1) provides in relevant part :

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged:

* * *

- (b) By the commission of any of the following acts by the insurer:
- 1. Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when, under all the circumstances, it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its insured with due regard for her or his interests;

* *

(8) The civil remedy specified in this section *does not* preempt any other remedy or cause of action provided for pursuant to any other statute or pursuant to the common law of this state. Any person may obtain a judgment under either the common law remedy of bad faith or this statutory remedy, but shall not be entitled to a judgment under both remedies. This section shall not be construed to create a common law cause of action. (emphasis supplied).

The firmly established Florida implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is a "remedy provided for . . . pursuant to the common law of this state."

The existence of that remedy and its application is beyond dispute. *See Cox v. CSX Intermodal*, 732 So. 2d 1092, 1097 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) and its antecedents and progeny.⁴ Florida's "bad faith" remedy is not a synonym for the contractual duty of good faith and fair dealing that "attaches to the performance of a specific contractual obligation." *Id.* at 1097. If the duty of good faith and fair dealing were not available here, the insurance company would have no incentive to act, and the adjustment process would be meaningless. Absent the ability to pursue the good faith/fair dealing remedy, an insurance company could perpetually "adjust" the claim, running it out past the statute of limitations, so there could

[U]nder an agreement that appears by word or silence to invest one party with a degree of discretion in performance sufficient to deprive another party of a substantial proportion of the agreement's value, the parties' intent to be bound by an enforceable contract raises an implied obligation of good faith to observe reasonable limits exercising that discretion, consistent with the parties' purpose or purposes in contracting. Centronics v. Genicom Corp., 132 N.H. 133, 562 A.2d 187, 193 (N.H. 1989).

While ornamental, *Cox's* quotation of Justice Souter's explanation of the good faith warranty while on the New Hampshire Supreme Court, is apt here:

never even be a traditional bad faith claim because the underlying case would never be reached.

Allstate Indemnity Co. v. Ruiz, 899 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 2005), State Farm Automobile Ins. Co. v. LaForet, 658 So. 2d 55 (Fla. 1995) Talat Ent. Inc. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 753 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 2000) and 624.155(1)(b)(1) do not carry the weight assigned to them by QBE, and do not undermine the answer we posit: that there is a good faith/fair dealing remedy for an insured based on the insurer's failure to investigate and assess the insured's claim within a reasonable time.

The Court has described the purpose of section 624.155 as "creat[ing] a statutory first-party bad faith cause of action for first party insured" and explained:

[T]his statutory remedy essentially *extended* the duty of an insurer to act in good faith and deal fairly where an insured seeks *first-party coverage or benefits* under a policy of insurance.

Allstate v. Ruiz, 899 So. 2d at 1126. (emphasis supplied). Section 624.155's purpose and reach were first set forth in *Operman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins.*, 515 So. 2d 263, 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) "We agree that the plain meaning of section 624.155(1)(b) extends a cause of action to the first party insured against its

insurer for bad faith refusal to settle." *Id.* at 266. The court continued: "The function of the bad faith claim is to provide the insured with an extra-contractual remedy." *Id.* at 267. In *Allstate*, this Court agreed with *Operman*: "see also *Operman*. . . (quoting legislative history which provides "[section 624.115] requires insurers to deal in good faith to settle claims. . . ."). *Allstate* 899 So. 2d at 1126.

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